



Elafibranor for previously treated primary biliary cholangitis

Technology appraisal guidance Published: 14 November 2024

www.nice.org.uk/guidance/ta1016

Your responsibility

The recommendations in this guidance represent the view of NICE, arrived at after careful consideration of the evidence available. When exercising their judgement, health professionals are expected to take this guidance fully into account, alongside the individual needs, preferences and values of their patients. The application of the recommendations in this guidance is at the discretion of health professionals and their individual patients and do not override the responsibility of healthcare professionals to make decisions appropriate to the circumstances of the individual patient, in consultation with the patient and/or their carer or guardian.

All problems (adverse events) related to a medicine or medical device used for treatment or in a procedure should be reported to the Medicines and Healthcare products Regulatory Agency using the Yellow Card Scheme.

Commissioners and/or providers have a responsibility to provide the funding required to enable the guidance to be applied when individual health professionals and their patients wish to use it, in accordance with the NHS Constitution. They should do so in light of their duties to have due regard to the need to eliminate unlawful discrimination, to advance equality of opportunity and to reduce health inequalities.

Commissioners and providers have a responsibility to promote an environmentally sustainable health and care system and should <u>assess and reduce the environmental</u> impact of implementing NICE recommendations wherever possible.

Contents

1 Recommendations	4
2 Information about elafibranor	5
Marketing authorisation indication	5
Dosage in the marketing authorisation	5
Price	5
3 Committee discussion	6
The condition	6
Clinical management	7
Clinical effectiveness	9
Economic model	13
Utility values	16
Cost-effectiveness estimates	16
Other factors	18
Conclusion	19
4 Implementation	20
5 Evaluation committee members and NICE project team	21
Evaluation committee members	21
Chair	21
NICE project team	21

1 Recommendations

- 1.1 Elafibranor is recommended, within its marketing authorisation, as an option for treating primary biliary cholangitis in adults, when used:
 - with ursodeoxycholic acid (UDCA), if the primary biliary cholangitis has not responded well enough to UDCA, or
 - alone, if UDCA cannot be tolerated.

Elafibranor is only recommended if the company provides it according to the commercial arrangement.

Why the committee made this recommendation

Usual treatment for primary biliary cholangitis is UDCA. If UDCA does not work well enough, or cannot be tolerated, obeticholic acid is typically used, with or without UDCA. There is an unmet need for treatments other than obeticholic acid because it does not work well enough for everyone and can make itching worse in some people.

Clinical trial evidence shows that after 1 year, more people who have elafibranor have normal results for some liver function tests than people who have placebo. Elafibranor has not been directly compared with obeticholic acid. The results of an indirect comparison suggest that more people who have elafibranor have normal results for some liver function tests at 1 year than people who have obeticholic acid, but these are uncertain.

There are also some uncertainties in the economic model, such as:

- how well elafibranor works compared with obeticholic acid
- the relationship between some liver function tests and changes in primary biliary cholangitis, including in the longer term
- the assumptions used in the economic model.

The most likely cost-effectiveness estimates are within the range that NICE considers an acceptable use of NHS resources, even when taking into account the uncertainties. So, elafibranor is recommended.

2 Information about elafibranor

Marketing authorisation indication

2.1 Elafibranor (Iqirvo, Ipsen) is indicated for 'the treatment of primary biliary cholangitis (PBC) in combination with ursodeoxycholic acid (UDCA) in adults with an inadequate response to UDCA, or as monotherapy in adults unable to tolerate UDCA'.

Dosage in the marketing authorisation

The dosage schedule is available in the <u>summary of product characteristics for elafibranor</u>.

Price

- The list price of elafibranor is £2,867 for a 30-tablet pack of 80 mg tablets (excluding VAT; company submission).
- The company has a <u>commercial arrangement</u>. This makes elafibranor available to the NHS with a discount. The size of the discount is commercial in confidence.

3 Committee discussion

The <u>evaluation committee</u> considered evidence submitted by Ipsen, a review of this submission by the external assessment group (EAG), and responses from stakeholders. See the <u>committee papers</u> for full details of the evidence.

The condition

Primary biliary cholangitis

3.1 Primary biliary cholangitis (PBC) is a chronic, progressive autoimmune condition that leads to a build-up of bile in the liver. This happens because the body's immune system destroys bile ducts in the liver, causing cholestasis. This means that the flow of bile through the liver and biliary system is impaired or stalled. Over time, chronic cholestasis leads to scarring of the liver (fibrosis and cirrhosis) and liver failure, and can ultimately lead to death. Clinical experts highlighted that early treatment is crucial to prevent irreversible liver damage. The cause of PBC is not known, but it is thought to be a mix of environmental and genetic factors. PBC is typically diagnosed by testing for biochemical indicators of liver function (such as alkaline phosphatase). Many people do not have symptoms until they have significant liver damage. Common symptoms for those who have symptoms include fatigue and itchy skin (pruritus). Around 20,000 people in the UK have PBC, with an annual incidence of 2 to 3 per 100,000. Most people with PBC are women (90%) and over the age of 40 (75%). The patient experts described the challenges of living with PBC such as severe fatigue and severe itching. They emphasised that the chronic symptoms significantly impact the daily lives of people with PBC and their families and carers. The committee recognised that PBC is a progressive condition that significantly impacts the daily lives of people who have it. It also noted the poor prognosis for people who experience irreversible liver damage.

Clinical management

Treatment options

3.2 The clinical experts explained that the first-line treatment option for PBC is ursodeoxycholic acid (UDCA). People whose PBC has an inadequate response to UDCA, or people who are intolerant of it, have obeticholic acid (OCA) with or without UDCA as a second-line treatment, as recommended in NICE's technology appraisal guidance on OCA for treating primary biliary cholangitis. They could also continue to have UDCA monotherapy. The patient experts explained that the treatment options are limited for people who cannot have, or whose PBC has not responded to, UDCA or OCA. They highlighted other treatments they have had, including plasmapheresis, nasobiliary drainage, and treatments for itching (such as colestyramine). They explained that some treatments were very intensive, needed very frequent hospital visits, did not work as expected and had side effects. Some people also have limited access to specialist treatment centres because they live far away from them. The clinical experts outlined that PBC treatments aim to slow the progression to end-stage liver disease and to reduce the quality-of-life burden of symptoms. But there is a significant unmet need because for 40% of people, their PBC does not respond to UDCA and for over 30% of people, PBC does not respond to second-line treatments. The patient experts added that people may need a liver transplant if their PBC does not respond to current treatments, or if they cannot tolerate them. But their shared experience was that the waiting list for transplants is very long. They noted that a liver transplant may not treat the fatigue associated with PBC. Also, other symptoms, including itching, may recur after a transplant. The patient experts said that when this happened, it left them feeling helpless. The committee concluded that there was an unmet need for people who cannot tolerate UDCA, or whose PBC has an inadequate response to it. It heard from the clinical and patient experts that existing treatments are limited, do not work for some people, and can have considerable side effects.

Treatment positioning of elafibranor

3.3 The company explained that elafibranor would be used as a second-line

treatment for people who cannot tolerate UDCA, or whose PBC has an inadequate response to it. This is the same line of treatment as OCA. The clinical experts highlighted that treatment with OCA may worsen itching in some people and 6% of people stop OCA because of severe itching. Many people with PBC who experience itching avoid treatment with OCA because of the risk of worse itching. The patient experts explained that the main benefit of elafibranor is reducing the burden of itching. The clinical experts agreed, noting that elafibranor is a treatment that does not worsen itching, unlike OCA for some people. The EAG suggested that elafibranor might be used as a third-line treatment too. It understood that there was no evidence for the effectiveness of elafibranor at this treatment line. But it noted the mechanism of action of elafibranor meant that third-line use may be possible. Elafibranor is a peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor (PPAR) agonist, combining the effects of PPARalpha and PPAR-delta activation. This is a different mechanism of action to UDCA and OCA. The committee concluded that there was enough evidence to consider elafibranor for second-line use, and that OCA with or without UDCA was an appropriate comparator for elafibranor. It concluded that any third-line use of elafibranor was uncertain.

Off-label use of fibrates

3.4 The company base case did not include fibrates as a comparator for elafibranor. Bezafibrate was included in the company's model (see section 3.9 for more information about the model) for treating itching with UDCA and OCA, but not as a stand-alone second-line treatment. Submissions from professional organisations and NHS England identified fibrates as a potential comparator. The company explained that it did not include fibrates because they are used offlabel and are not recommended by NICE. It added that fibrates have not been studied to regulatory standards, so there might be long-term safety concerns. The EAG referenced a UK audit that found that some people having second-line treatment for PBC had fibrates. But it noted these may have been used as an add-on treatment for itching, rather than to treat PBC. The clinical experts explained that fibrates are used in combination with second-line treatments to treat itching. They added that fibrates would not be widely used as a second-line treatment for PBC because of toxicity and limited evidence of efficacy. The committee concluded that fibrates were not used primarily to treat PBC and were

not an appropriate comparator for elafibranor.

Clinical effectiveness

ELATIVE trial

- The main source of clinical-effectiveness evidence for elafibranor was the ELATIVE trial. This was a phase 3, randomised, placebo-controlled, double-blind trial. It investigated the efficacy of elafibranor compared with placebo in people aged 18 to 75 years who had PBC that had had an inadequate response to UDCA, or who were intolerant to it. The trial recruited 161 people and, of these, 108 had elafibranor and 53 had placebo. The mean age was 57 years and 96% of people in the trial were female. The trial was carried out in sites around the world, including in the UK. The primary outcome was cholestasis response at week 52. This was defined as:
 - an alkaline phosphatase level of less than or equal to 1.67 times the upper limit of the normal range, with a reduction of 15% or more from baseline, and
 - total bilirubin levels within the normal range.

At week 52, 50.9% of people in the elafibranor arm had cholestasis response compared with 3.8% for placebo (p<0.0001) in the intention-to-treat population. The committee concluded that ELATIVE was relevant for evaluating elafibranor for treating PBC.

Network meta-analysis approach

The company did a network meta-analysis (NMA) to generate comparative evidence for elafibranor and OCA. It included the ELATIVE trial data and data from the POISE trial. The POISE trial was similar to the ELATIVE trial but investigated OCA at a 5 mg to 10 mg dose and a 10 mg dose. The company used a random-effects model in its base case, but also used a fixed-effects model in a scenario analysis. The outcomes included in the NMA were the:

- odds of cholestasis response at 12 months
- mean change in alkaline phosphatase levels from baseline at 12 months
- odds of alkaline phosphatase normalisation at 12 months
- mean change in pruritus from baseline at 12 months, according to the 5-D itch questionnaire score, using the earliest data after starting treatment
- mean change in the PBC-40 questionnaire score (itch domain) from baseline at 12 months, using the earliest data after starting treatment
- odds of a pruritus treatment-emergent adverse event (any severity) in
 12 months
- odds of all-cause discontinuation in 12 months.
- mean change in high-density lipoprotein (HDL)-cholesterol from baseline at 12 months.

The EAG raised several concerns with the methodology of the NMA, which included the:

- use of odds ratios in the NMA instead of risk ratios (this was because odds ratios tend to overestimate effects with a link between exposure and outcome, if interpreted as risk ratios)
- statistical methods used
- studies that were excluded from the analysis
- transitivity assumption.

The committee concluded that the company's NMA methodology was subject to some limitations. But, overall it was suitable for decision making.

Network meta-analysis results

3.7 The results of the NMA cannot be reported here because they are confidential.

The EAG highlighted that the credible intervals for all outcomes used in the company's economic model were very wide. The company explained that there were issues with convergence in the random-effects model. But it noted that the results were similar with the fixed-effects model. The EAG explored additional analyses with different assumptions and agreed with the company that different approaches to the NMA did not change the overall conclusions. It noted that elafibranor and OCA had statistically significant treatment effects compared with placebo, but there was substantial uncertainty in the size of effects. When they were compared in the NMA, the uncertainty in the treatment effect size for both treatments led to very wide credible intervals. The EAG explained that the results showed that there was substantial underlying uncertainty about the effectiveness of elafibranor compared with OCA. The committee noted that the very wide credible intervals meant that there may be no difference in treatment effect between elafibranor and OCA. It noted that the cost-effectiveness results showed that more quality-adjusted life years (QALYs) were gained with elafibranor compared with OCA, and asked the company if this was plausible. The company explained that the point estimates from the NMA showed a large difference in treatment effect for elafibranor compared with OCA. And it was these point estimates that were used in the modelling. The company added that the credible intervals were wide because of small sample sizes, because PBC is a rare condition. Also, very few events were recorded in the placebo arm. But it added that the uncertainty was mitigated because additional analyses showed that the NMA point estimates were stable. The company considered that the incremental cost-effectiveness ratio (ICER) was also stable because the probabilistic ICERs (which included the wide credible intervals) were similar to the deterministic ICERs.

The clinical experts noted that the NMA may have underestimated the effect of elafibranor in reducing the odds of itching compared with OCA. This was because clinicians were aware that OCA may cause itching in some people, so people already with severe itching would not have entered the POISE trial. But people already with severe itching would have entered the ELATIVE trial because of the expected reduced itching burden. Also, people who had already had second-line treatments such as OCA were included in the ELATIVE trial. So, it may be expected that these people would have worse outcomes for itching than those having second-line elafibranor. The clinical experts also highlighted that the most meaningful measure of treatment effect for clinicians is alkaline phosphatase

normalisation. They expected that an NMA on this measure alone would show a less uncertain treatment effect for elafibranor compared with OCA, because a clear benefit is seen in clinical practice. The committee noted that the company had provided an analysis in which alkaline phosphatase normalisation was used as the measure of treatment effectiveness and that this increased the ICER. The committee concluded that the NMA had limitations but was suitable for decision making, noting that the alternative analyses supported the conclusions. But it considered that the very wide credible intervals showed significant uncertainty in the treatment effectiveness of elafibranor compared with OCA.

Surrogate outcomes

3.8 The committee noted that the key measure of response in ELATIVE was normalisation of alkaline phosphatase and bilirubin, which are biochemical markers of liver function (see section 3.5). It recalled the clinical expert's testimony that the most meaningful measure of treatment effect for clinicians is alkaline phosphatase normalisation (see section 3.7). It also recalled the European Medicines Agency's (EMA's) recent concerns about the conditional marketing authorisation for OCA. The conditional marketing authorisation was initially granted because OCA was shown to reduce levels of alkaline phosphatase and bilirubin, which was considered indicative of an improvement in liver condition. But, the EMA recently considered that the effectiveness of OCA had not been proven with longer-term data from the phase 4 confirmatory COBALT trial. The committee asked the clinical experts whether this indicated that alkaline phosphatase normalisation is not an appropriate surrogate outcome, and whether this was important to consider for elafibranor. The clinical experts explained that alkaline phosphatase normalisation is known to be associated with better outcomes for people with PBC. They reiterated that it is the most meaningful measure for clinicians in assessing PBC changes. They considered that the negative results of the COBALT trial were because of limitations in trial recruitment, unblinding and treatment switching, rather than limitations of alkaline phosphatase normalisation as an outcome measure. The committee acknowledged that the ELATIVE trial results included surrogate outcomes used to monitor PBC progression. Also, that there was uncertainty about the relationship between these measures and long-term outcomes. But it also acknowledged that there were potential limitations of the COBALT trial. The committee concluded

that there were uncertainties in defining cholestasis response that were important for it to consider in its decision making.

Economic model

Company's modelling approach

3.9 The company developed a Markov model to estimate the cost effectiveness of elafibranor. The company explained that the model was consistent with the model used in NICE's technology appraisal guidance on OCA for treating primary biliary cholangitis. The modelled health states covered 2 distinct components: PBC biomarkers and liver disease. In the model, people could move between mild, moderate and high-risk biomarker states. These levels corresponded to the risk of progressing to liver disease. People whose PBC responded to treatment, while on treatment, had a higher probability of being in a lower risk biomarker state. When a person stopped treatment, they returned to their original state before second-line treatment. Only people in moderate and high-risk biomarker states could move to liver disease states. Liver disease health states included hepatocellular carcinoma, decompensated cirrhosis, pre liver transplant, liver transplant, post liver transplant and PBC re-emergence. Once in the pretransplant state, people could move to having a liver transplant and posttransplant states. People could also get PBC re-emergence from these 2 states and transition to death from any health state. The committee concluded that the model accurately reflected the PBC pathway and was suitable for decision making.

Modelled survival predictions

The EAG highlighted concerns with liver-disease-free survival and overall survival predicted by the company's model. It highlighted that liver-disease-free survival had likely been underpredicted in the company model and that overall survival predictions had not been validated by experts or literature. The EAG compared liver disease risk predictions over 5, 10 and 15 years from the ELATIVE trial and the company model. It showed that the model estimated lower transplant-free

survival than the trial. The exact figures are confidential and cannot be reported here. The EAG explained that the underprediction could be because of the following features of the model:

- people could transition from the moderate-risk PBC biomarker state to liver disease, unlike in the model used for <u>NICE's technology appraisal guidance</u> on OCA for treating primary biliary cholangitis
- the increase in mortality from the general population mortality for high-risk PBC biomarker states may have been too high and miscalculated (the EAG changed this in its base case)
- the immediate increase in PBC biomarker risk after treatment discontinuation
- people having UDCA could not move from moderate to low-risk states after
 12 months
- the uncertainty in long-term transition probabilities.

The EAG also highlighted uncertainty with overall survival predictions by comparing median survival predictions in the model with estimates from the literature. The model predicted a median survival for hepatocellular carcinoma of 1.5 years, and 4 years for decompensated cirrhosis. This was compared with survival estimates from the literature for hepatocellular carcinoma after 5 years that ranged from 43% to 69%. The EAG suggested that the uncertainty could be reduced if the modelled survival predictions were validated by clinical experts and external literature. The EAG base case changed how the increase in mortality from the general population mortality was applied for high-risk PBC biomarker states. The company base case added the 1.2% excess mortality to the 2% general population mortality for a total of 3.2% mortality. The EAG base case applied the increase multiplicatively instead, for a total mortality rate of 2.02%. The committee noted the modelled survival benefit of elafibranor and asked the clinical experts if it was plausible. The clinical experts explained that a survival benefit of elafibranor was plausible and expected. This is because elafibranor leads to superior alkaline phosphatase normalisation compared with OCA, which in turn is expected to lead to better survival. The committee concluded that the modelled survival predictions for elafibranor and OCA were plausible but uncertain. This was because of underlying uncertainty with the NMA

results (see <u>section 3.7</u>) and surrogate outcomes (see <u>section 3.8</u>), and also because the survival predictions had not been validated. The committee accepted the EAG's approach to calculating mortality for the high-risk PBC biomarker state.

All-cause discontinuation for obeticholic acid

3.11 OCA can be taken for a person's lifetime and the company's model included treatment discontinuation for OCA over the full-model time horizon. The company estimated OCA discontinuation by applying the 12-month risk ratio for discontinuation from the NMA (see section 3.6) to elafibranor discontinuation from ELATIVE. The company originally extrapolated the treatment discontinuation for OCA beyond 12 months by assuming an exponential distribution. But the EAG raised that this assumed a constant rate of discontinuation, which did not agree with the clinical experts' opinion. The clinical experts explained that discontinuation mostly occurs early in the treatment course for OCA. So, the company updated the extrapolation distribution to a lognormal distribution. It also assumed a lifetime difference in discontinuation between elafibranor and OCA. The EAG commented that the approach to discontinuation was different from the approach used in NICE's technology appraisal guidance on OCA for treating primary biliary cholangitis. In that model, treatment discontinuation was only considered for the first year of treatment. The EAG noted that the proportion of people still on treatment with OCA at 5 years in the real-world UK data was higher than the estimate from the company's model. The exact figures are confidential and cannot be reported here. The clinical experts acknowledged that the real-world UK data was in line with their experiences, but people add other treatments instead of stopping altogether. The EAG base case also used a lognormal distribution for treatment discontinuation but only assumed a 1-year difference in discontinuation between elafibranor and OCA. The EAG explained that people who stopped OCA plus UDCA in the model had UDCA alone. The EAG added that this costs less and leads to worse clinical outcomes, but the reduced costs outweighed the reduced outcomes. So, assuming greater discontinuation for OCA made elafibranor less cost effective compared with OCA. The committee concluded that there was uncertainty in the treatment discontinuation for OCA. But it noted that using either the company's or the EAG's preferred approach had a very small impact on the cost-effectiveness results.

Utility values

High-risk biomarker utility values

The ELATIVE trial collected EQ-5D-5L quality-of-life data, but the data was not 3.12 used in the company model for the PBC biomarker-risk health state. The company explained that a linear mixed-effects model using the ELATIVE trial data led to a utility decrement between moderate and high-risk states that was lower than expected. It suggested this was because of small sample sizes of people with high-risk PBC biomarkers. The company explained that it considered the quality-of-life results from ELATIVE unreliable, so it used values from the literature instead. The values used in the company base case were 0.84 for mild and moderate risk and 0.55 for high risk. The value for mild and moderate risk was for cholestatic disease from Younossi et al. (2000). The value for high risk was for compensated cirrhosis taken from NICE's technology appraisal guidance on sofosbuvir for treating chronic hepatitis C. The utility values from ELATIVE are confidential and cannot be reported here. The EAG agreed with the company that the small sample size added uncertainty, but it still considered the data informative. So, it used the utility values from ELATIVE in its scenario analyses. The EAG base case used more recent utility values from the literature for the high-risk PBC biomarker state. It used 0.717 for compensated cirrhosis from Saeed et al. (2020). The committee concluded that there was uncertainty in the utility values, but it noted that this had a very small impact on the costeffectiveness results.

Cost-effectiveness estimates

Company and EAG cost-effectiveness estimates

- 3.13 The EAG's base case included the following changes to the company's base case:
 - 13 minor errors were fixed
 - a constant hazard ratio was used for OCA outcomes instead of a risk ratio
 - the pre liver transplant health state in the model was excluded

- the excess mortality for the high-risk PBC biomarker state was added multiplicatively instead of additively (see section 3.10)
- a difference in treatment discontinuation between OCA and elafibranor maintained for 1 year was used instead of lifetime use (see section 3.11)
- a high-risk state utility value of 0.717 was used instead of 0.55 (see section 3.12)
- itching was removed as an adverse event in the model because it was captured by the PBC-40 itch domain outcome
- a compliance rate of 93.6% was used for OCA and elafibranor.

The cost-effectiveness results included confidential discounts for comparator treatments so the exact ICERs cannot be reported here. The company's probabilistic base case ICER (with errors fixed by the EAG) and the EAG's base case ICER were within the range that NICE normally considers a cost-effective use of NHS resources. The committee considered that the most plausible ICER was aligned with the EAG base case but it was subject to considerable uncertainty. It reviewed the incremental cost-effectiveness plane and cost-effectiveness acceptability curve for the EAG base case and noted that they portrayed uncertainty in the results. The spread of probabilistic cost-effectiveness results was very wide and covered all 4 quadrants of the plane.

Acceptable ICER

NICE's manual on health technology evaluations notes that, above a most plausible ICER of £20,000 per QALY gained, judgements about the acceptability of a technology as an effective use of NHS resources will take into account the degree of certainty around the ICER. The committee will be more cautious about recommending a technology if it is less certain about the ICERs presented. But it will also take into account other aspects including uncaptured health benefits. The committee was mindful that PBC is a rare condition, which can make evidence generation particularly difficult. It noted the very high level of uncertainty, specifically that:

- the NMA results included very wide credible intervals that crossed the threshold of no effect (see section 3.7)
- the relationship between alkaline phosphatase and bilirubin normalisation and outcomes for people with PBC was uncertain (see section 3.8)
- the modelled survival predictions had not been validated by clinical experts or external literature (see section 3.10)
- the long-term efficacy of OCA and elafibranor was unknown (see section 3.8)
- redefining treatment effectiveness as alkaline phosphatase normalisation alone led to a considerably higher ICER (see section 3.7)
- the distribution of individual probabilistic ICERs on the incremental costeffectiveness plane was very wide and covered all 4 quadrants of the plane (see <u>section 3.13</u>).

So, the committee concluded that an acceptable ICER would be around £20,000 per QALY.

Other factors

Equality issues

- 3.15 Submissions from the company, patient and professional organisations and clinical experts identified potential equality issues for consideration. The issues identified were:
 - Approximately 90% of people with PBC globally are women and the incidence rate is 5 to 6 times higher in women than men.
 - People who are diagnosed with PBC under the age of 50 experience more severe and progressive PBC and poorer treatment response than people who are aged 50 and over at diagnosis.
 - Men are at greater risk of more advanced PBC at diagnosis and poorer treatment response compared with women.

- People with PBC are the most likely to die out of all people waiting for liver transplants because of priority given to others.
- Some evidence suggests smoking, nail polish, hair dyes, hormone replacement and toxic waste are linked to PBC.

The committee considered the concerns raised about access to liver transplants. It understood these concerns but noted that they were outside of its remit. The committee noted the possibility of different treatment outcomes for some groups of people. Age and sex are protected characteristics under the Equality Act 2010. But because its recommendation does not restrict access to treatment for some people over others, the committee agreed that these were not potential equality issues.

Conclusion

Recommendation

The committee recalled the high uncertainty associated with the company's model and long-term outcomes for elafibranor, and that the EAG's and company's base cases were associated with uncertainty. But it noted that the most plausible cost-effectiveness estimates were below the committee's acceptable ICER, even when taking into account the high uncertainty. So, it recommended elafibranor as an option for treating PBC.

4 Implementation

- 4.1 Section 7 of the National Institute for Health and Care Excellence (Constitution and Functions) and the Health and Social Care Information Centre (Functions)

 Regulations 2013 requires integrated care boards, NHS England and, with respect to their public health functions, local authorities to comply with the recommendations in this evaluation within 3 months of its date of publication.
- 4.2 Section 4f of <u>The Innovative Medicines Fund Principles</u> states that a discretionary source of early funding (from the overall Innovative Medicines Fund budget) is available for certain medicines recommended by NICE. In this instance, interim funding has been agreed for elafibranor. Interim funding will end 90 days after positive final guidance is published (or 30 days in the case of drugs with an Early Access to Medicines Scheme designation or cost comparison evaluation), at which point funding will switch to routine commissioning budgets.
- The Welsh ministers have issued directions to the NHS in Wales on implementing NICE technology appraisal guidance. When a NICE technology appraisal guidance recommends the use of a drug or treatment, or other technology, the NHS in Wales must usually provide funding and resources for it within 2 months of the first publication of the final draft guidance.
- 4.4 When NICE recommends a treatment 'as an option', the NHS must make sure it is available within the period set out in the paragraphs above. This means that, if a patient has primary biliary cholangitis and the healthcare professional responsible for their care thinks that elafibranor is the right treatment, it should be available for use, in line with NICE's recommendations.

5 Evaluation committee members and NICE project team

Evaluation committee members

The 4 technology appraisal committees are standing advisory committees of NICE. This topic was considered by <u>committee C</u>.

Committee members are asked to declare any interests in the technology being evaluated. If it is considered there is a conflict of interest, the member is excluded from participating further in that evaluation.

The <u>minutes of each evaluation committee meeting</u>, which include the names of the members who attended and their declarations of interests, are posted on the NICE website.

Chair

Professor Stephen O'Brien

Chair, technology appraisal committee C

NICE project team

Each evaluation is assigned to a team consisting of 1 or more health technology analysts (who act as technical leads for the evaluation), a technical adviser, a project manager and an associate director.

Owen Swales

Technical lead

Lizzie Walker

Technical adviser

Leena Issa

Elafibranor for previously treated primary biliary cholangitis (TA1016)

Project manager

lan Watson

Associate director

ISBN: 978-1-4731-6604-2